THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the South Carolina Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jun 19 2020

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Teasa K. Weaver, Master in Equity Court Judge

2019-001968

Edgar Bruce Massey..... Respondent

v.

James Anthony Fanning, Danny Joseph Baker,
Michael Kaminski, a/k/a Michael Kaminsky,
And Republic Finance, LLC,

Of Whom James Anthony Fanning is Appellant..... Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James W. Boyd (SC Bar# 824)
Post Office Box 36425
1544 Ebenezer Road
Rock Hill, SC 29732
(803) 328-2600 Phone
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT IT WOULD BE INEQUITABLE TO PROHIBIT THE RESPONDENT FROM PARTITION BASED ON THE APPELLANT DISREGARDING THE TERMS OF THEIR AGREEMENT OF OCTOBER 5, 1979.
- II. IF THE APPELLANT BREACHED THE AGREEMENT OF OCTOBER 5, 1979, THE BREACH WAS NOT FUNDENMENTAL OR SUBSTANTIAL SO AS TO DFEAT THE PURPOSE OF THE CONTRACT.
- III. THE RESPONDANT WAIVE ANY BREACH OF THE OCTOBER 5, 1979 AGREEMENT.
- IV. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT RECEIVED \$5,000.00 IN RENT ON THE PROPERTY FROM DEFENDANT BAKER?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 4, 2017, Edgar Bruce Massey brought an action against the Appellant, Danny Joseph Baker, Michael Kaminski, a/k/a Michael Kaminsky, Republic Finance, LLC, John Doe and Richard Roe, seeking to quiet title, seeking the sale or partition, requesting dissolving of partnership and accounting. Appellant, James Anthony Fanning filed an answer and cross-claim denying that the Plaintiff was entitled to the relief he sought in his complaint and asserted cross-claims against Kaminski and Baker. The Defendant Baker defaulted on the complaint and cross-claim. The Defendant Kaminski filed an answer and cross-claims against Defendant Baker and Appellant Fanning. This matter came for a hearing before the Honorable Teasa Weave on December 4, 2018. The Defendants Massey and Kaminsky did not appear. Judgement were awarded on behalf of the Appellant Fanning against Defendants Massey and Kaminsky. The cross-claims of Defendant Kaminski were dismissed. The Court issued its Order on September 23, 2019. The Court granted the Partition and ordered the Appellant to provide a full accounting of

all amounts received from Defendant Baker and to pay the Plaintiff \$5,000.00 representing one-half of the payment that Appellant received from Defendant Baker. The Appellant timely filed a Motion to Amended or Alter the Judgment. The Court heard arguments on the Motion on October 17, 2019. The Court issued its Order denying Appellant's Motion to Amend or Alter Judgment on November 6, 2019. On November 25, 2019, the Appellant filed and served a Notice of Appeal.

FACTS

The Appellant and Respondent are the joint owners of property that is the subject of this action. On October 5, 1979, the parties entered an Agreement concerning the subject property. The Respondent's Agreement¹ that provided that the parties waived any right to sale the property without the consent of the other and parties waived any right to unilaterally force any sale or division of the property. The contract was drawn up by the Respondent's Attorney². At one point the Respondent and Appellant were in business operating a body shop³. The Respondent left the business and the Appellant was going to continue operating the body shop⁴. The contract forbidding partition was important to the Appellant, because he intended to continue operating the body shop⁵. There was a mobile home park on the property. The Respondent and Appellant each had mobile homes on certain lots, would receive the rent, were responsible for the expenses of their respective mobile homes and would receive expenses for the mobile home⁶. Pursuant to the

¹ R. Pg. 110 - 114;

² R. Pg. 38, lines 21-23;

³ R. Pg. 67, lines 3-12;

⁴ R. Pg. 68, lines 3-20;

⁵ R. Pg. 68, lines 22 - Pages 69, line 22;

⁶ R. Pg. 70, lines 20 - Pages 71, line 1;

contract⁷ Respondent relinquished any rights, claims or interest he had in the business known as Rock Hill Paint and Body Clinic and provided that the Appellant will pay no rent on the business portion of the real estate. On May 6, 2016, the Appellant entered into a written agreement with the Appellant Baker. The May 6, 2016 Agreement with Defendant Baker provided that the Appellant Fanning would sell Defendant Joseph Baker the business of Rock Hill Paint and Body Clinic. The Agreement expressly provided that Defendant Baker would acquire no interest in the building or real property upon which the business or the rental units are located until payment in full had been made. Paragraph Six (6) of the Agreement noted that the real property and the rental units were subject to a contract dated October 5, 1979, between the Appellant Fanning and Respondent Edgar Bruce Massey. The Agreement stated that the Appellant would be responsible to comply with that Agreement. Appellant and Defendant Baker entered into an amended agreement dated October 21, 2016, which provided that Defendant Baker would be responsible in purchasing Respondent Edgar Bruce Massey's interest in the real property⁸.

The Defendant Baker paid \$6,000.00 to the Appellant and made one other payment.⁹ Defendant Baker did not comply with the Agreement and was evicted from the property.¹⁰ In its Order, the Court granted the Respondent, on the grounds it was inequitable to prohibit partition because the Appellant ignored the Agreement by signing the contract with Baker and by withholding rents. The court further order the Appellant to \$5,000.00 representing one-half of the payment that Appellant received from Baker.

⁷ R. Pg. 110 - 114;

⁸ R. Pg. 156;

⁹ R. Pg. 63, lines 23 – Pg.64, line 3;

¹⁰ R Pg. 75, lines 15-18;

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT IT WOULD BE INEQUITABLE TO PROHIBIT THE RESPONDENT FROM PARTITION BASED ON THE APPELLANT DISREGARDING THE TERMS OF THEIR AGREEMENT OF OCTOBER 5, 1979.

The Agreement of October 5, 1979,¹¹ provided that there, “shall not be a sale or conveyance of the subject real estate without consent of each party; the party specifically understand that they are hereby waiving any right they may have initiate and pursue any partition or similar action to unilaterally force any sale or division of the subject property; the Parties specifically understand and declare that there shall be no change of any form or manner whatsoever in the subject property without the mutual consent of each.” The Court held that, while neither party adhered to the terms of the Agreement, the Appellant ignored its terms by signing two contracts with Defendant Baker without Respondent’s consent and while withholding rent¹². Appellant entered into two contracts with Defendant Baker, one dated May 6, 2016 and another dated October 21, 2016. Pursuant to the October 5, 1979 contract, the Respondent had no interest in the business known as Rock Hill Paint and Body Clinic. Appellant agreed to transfer the real property, to Defendant Baker when \$500,000.00 had been paid. Paragraph 6 of the Agreement recognized the October 5, 1979 Agreement. The May 6, 2016 Agreement provided that the Appellant would be responsible for complying with the terms of the Agreement of October 5, 1979. The May 6, 2016 Agreement recognized the existence and terms of the October 5, 1979 Agreement. It was not a breach of the October 5, 1979 Agreement for Appellant to enter into the May 6, 2016 Agreement. The Agreement of May 6, 2016, was amended by the October 21, 2016 Agreement which provided that Defendant Baker would be responsible for

¹¹ R. Pg. 110 - 114;

¹² R. Pg. 3.

purchasing Respondent Edgar Bruce Massey's interest in the real property. Except as modified by the Agreement of October 21, 2016 the Agreement of May 6, 2016 remained in full force and effect. The Agreements with Defendant Baker were not a breach or repudiation of the agreement between the Appellant and Respondent but expressly acknowledged that the Agreement had to be complied with by Appellant. The Agreements with Defendant Baker were contingent on the compliance with the October 5, 1979 Agreement

II. IF THE APPELLANT BREACHED THE AGREEMENT OF OCTOBER 5, 1979, THE BREACH WAS NOT FUNDENMENTAL OR SUSTANTIAL SO AS TO DEFEAT THE PURPOSE OF THE CONTRACT.

Where a breach is not so material as to defeat the purpose of the contact, the non-breaching party is compensated by damages. *Ackerman v. McMillian* 314 S.C. 268, 442 S.E.2nd 618, S.C. App. 1994. In the present case, the contract Fanning had with Baker was never complied with by Baker. Baker defaulted on the Agreement and the purchase never happen¹³. The parties remained in the same position they were prior to the Agreement with Defendant Baker. Therefore, any breach was never material and there was no damage to the Respondent.

III. THE RESPONDANT WAIVED ANY BREACH OF THE OCTOBER 5, 1979 AGREEMENT.

A waiver is the intentional relinquishment of a known right. *Janasik v. Fairway Oaks Villas Horizontal Property Regime*, 307. SC 339, 415 ES2nd 384 (1992) Respondent brought a lawsuit against Defendant Baker for water bills owed on the property. A judgment was obtained against Defendant Baker which was later set aside.¹⁴ By seeking

¹³ R. Pg. 64, lines 11-18 - Pg. 74, line 15-18;

¹⁴ R. Pg.55, lines 22- Pg.56, line 24;

payment from Defendant Baker rather than Appellant, the Respondent acknowledged Defendant Baker's responsibilities pursuant to the Agreement Defendant Baker had with Appellant and waived any right to complain that the Agreements were invalid.

IV. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT RECEIVED \$5,000.00 IN RENT ON THE PROPERTY FROM DEFENDANT BAKER?

The lower court ordered the Appellant to pay to the Respondent \$5000.00, representing one-half of the payments Appellant received from Baker. Defendant Baker paid the Appellant \$6,000.00 toward a down payment and was to pay \$4,000.00 per month. The Agreement of October 21, 2016, provided the payments were a down payment on the business known as Rock Hill Paint and Body Clinic. The October 5, 1979 Agreement provided that the Agreement did not included the operations, profits or loss of the business known as Rock Hill Paint and Body Clinic. The Respondent had no interest in Rock Hill Paint and Body Clinic. The amounts paid by Defendant Baker was a down payment towards the business. The Respondent is not entitled to any portion of the down payment.

CONCLUSION

Fore the reason stated, the Court should reverse the judgment of the Circuit Court.