THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
In The Circuit Court

Teasa K. Weaver, Master in Equity Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001968

Edgar Bruce Massey,

Respondent,

v.

James Anthony Fanning,
Danny Joseph Baker,
Michael Kaminski d/b/a Michael Kaminsky,
and Republic Finance, LLC,

of whom James Anthony Fanning is the

Appellant

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John Martin Foster
Post Office Box 106
Rock Hill, South Carolina 29731
(803) 324-8100
Attorneys for Respondent

RECEIVED

MAY 14 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Statement of Issues on Appeal

Statement of the Case.....

Standard of Review.....

Argument.....

Conclusion

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES: SOUTH CAROLINA

SUPREME COURT

1)

COURT OF APPEALS

STATUTES

UNITED STATES CIRCUIT COURTS

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURTS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The STANDARD OF REVIEW ON EQUITABLE MATTERS DEMONSTRATES THAT THE MASTER'S ORDER CANNOT BE CHALLENGED ON EQUITABLE GROUNDS.
- II. ADDITIONAL GROUNDS EXIST TO AFFIRM THE MASTER'S RULING AS TO PARTITION AND ACCOUNTING.
- III. NO BASIS EXISTS TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT'S BREACH OF THE PARTIES' AGREEMENT WAS NOT FUNDAMENTAL AND SUBSTANTIAL.
- IV. NO BASIS EXISTS TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT'S BREACH OF THE PARTIES' AGREEMENT WAS WAIVED BY THE RESPONDENT.
- V. NO BASIS EXISTS TO CHALLENGE THE MASTER'S DETERMINATION THAT THE APPELLANT MUST ACCOUNT FOR RENT RECEIVED FROM A THIRD PARTY.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent EDGAR BRUCE MASSEY filed is to quiet title as to real estate in York County, South Carolina, for partition, and to obtain remedies relating to an alleged partnership between MASSEY and the Appellant JAMES ANTHONY FANNING. MASSEY also sought a partition of the subject real property and a declaration of the parties' respective rights, status and legal relations, pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-53-20.

By Deed dated July 9th, 1980 and recorded July 14th, 1980 in Deed Book 616, Page 430 in the Office of the Clerk of Court for York County, William Holman Rast and Marie M. Rast conveyed to James Anthony Fanning and Edgar Bruce Massey the following real property:

All that certain piece, parcel or lot of land lying, being and situate on the eastern side of Saluda Road in the City of Rock Hill, York County, South Carolina and being more particularly shown and described on plat of property drawn by Leonard H. Patterson as follows: BEGINNING at a point on the eastern edge of Saluda Road joint front corner of within property and property of Massey and Fanning and running thence N. 21-54 E. 137.2 feet to a point; thence in an easterly direction along the edge of Blackmon Street for a distance of 169 feet to a point; thence S. 20-44 W. 186.5 feet to an iron; thence N. 68-06 W. 170 feet to the point of beginning.

Tax Map No. 623-01-01-014

By Deed dated June 15th, 2006 and recorded July 11th, 2006 in Record Book 08193, Page 00017 in the Office of the Clerk of Court for York County, Bettye R. Thomas conveyed to James Anthony Fanning and Edgar Bruce Massey the following real property:

All that certain piece, parcel or lot of land lying, being and situate in the on the eastern side of Saluda Street City of Rock Hill, County of York, State of South Carolina and being more particularly shown and described on plat of property drawn by Leonard H. Patterson, as follows: Beginning at a point on the eastern edge of Saluda Street, joint corner of within property and property now or formerly of W. R. Rast, Jr., said point being 137.2 feet from the southern edge of Blackman [sic, properly Blackmon] Street and running thence S. 68-06 E. 170 feet to a point; thence turning S. 77-00 E. 78.5 feet to a point; thence running S. 83-08 E. 82.5 feet to a point; thence running S. 86-45 E. 145 feet to an old iron; thence running N. 87-03 E. 113.2 feet to an old iron; thence running S. S. [sic] 43-23 W. 270 feet to an iron; thence running N. 53-03 W. 516.1 feet to an iron on the eastern edge of Saluda Street; running thence with said edge of said Street N. 21-54 B. 52.4 feet to the point of beginning; containing 2.03 acres more or less; together with the right and privilege to use a certain 20 foot alley having a depth of 150 feet and leading from the eastern portion of the tract herein described to Marshall Road.

Tax Map No.s 623-01-01-003 and 623-01-01-008

The 1979 Agreement has no application to the second plat referenced above and conveyed by Bettye Y. Thomas in 2006.

MASSEY and FANNING operate a mobile home park and rental area located on the subject real property. MASSEY alleged expenditure of various sums for the upkeep of the property, for the investigation of this matter and the prosecution of this civil action.

MASSEY and FANNING executed an agreement concerning the subject real property on October 5, 1979. That Agreement states in its third expository paragraph:

WHEREAS, the Parties are no longer in business together, but desire to continue their partnership regarding the real property and trailer park located thereon and desire to reduce their agreement to writing; . . .

By his suit, MASSEY also sought an accounting as to sums related to the subject property, and for services rendered.

This matter came on regularly for trial on December 4th, 2008 at 9:30 A.M. before the Honorable Teasa K. Weaver, Master in Equity for York County, sitting as a Special Circuit Court Judge without a jury. By Order entered September 23, 2019, the Court found that no partnership existed

between the parties, granted partition of the subject properties, required a full accounting from FANNING as to the parties' business. This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the appellate court's standard of review extends only to the correction of errors of law.” [Citing to *Electro Lab of Aiken, Inc. v. Sharp Constr. Co. of Sumter, Inc.*, 357 S.C. 363, 367, 593 S.E.2d 170, 172 (Ct.App.2004).] “The trial judge's findings of fact will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings.” Id.

[*Consignment Sales, LLC v. Tucker Oil Co.*, 391 S.C. ___, 705 S.E.2d 76 (Ct.App. 2011).]

The relevant commentary of AMERICAN JURISPRUDENCE 2D states:

Partition, if well-founded, is an absolute right, at least in the absence of an agreement waiving the right. It does not arise out of contract. The right is also not affected by the motive of the person who seeks partition. Practically, the only limit to the right lies in the inherent qualities of the estate to be divided. And in the absence of statutory provisions to the contrary, the absolute right to partition yields to no consideration of hardship, inconvenience, or difficulty.

[59A AM.JUR.2D *Partition* § 4 (09/2003); footnotes omitted.]

The proposition above, as stated by AMERICAN JURISPRUDENCE 2D, leaves the Appellant with two arguments against partition: either a) they have an enforceable agreement waiving the right to partition, or b) some equitable ground exists to prevent partition.

The Respondent acknowledges that there are a small number of cases allowing equitable grounds as a defense against partition. Again, the commentary of AMERICAN JURISPRUDENCE 2D states:

Since the right of partition is limited by the requirement of fairness, the courts will not permit use of the remedy of partition for the accomplishment of a fraudulent, oppressive, or unconscionable purpose. Although the right to partition is generally considered absolute, inequitable hardship and depression may defeat the action to partition property.

[59A AM.JUR.2D *Partition* § 6 (09/2003); footnotes omitted.]

The Appellant has characterized his first and major ground for appeal as an objection to the Master's finding that a prohibition against partition would be inequitable. [Option b) above.] The Master in fact concluded:

The question now turns to whether the Plaintiff should be granted a partition despite his express waiver in the Agreement. Equity should not "lend its aid to one who has been guilty of inequitable conduct in the subject matter." *Masonic Temple, Inc. v. Ebert*, 199 S.C. 5, 18 S.E.2d 584 (1942). Though neither party adhered to the terms of the Agreement, Fanning further ignored its terms by signing both contracts with Baker without Plaintiff's consent, and by withholding rents. It would be inequitable to prohibit Plaintiff from partition based upon the same terms Fanning disregarded.

[RECORD ON APPEAL, Order of 09/23/19, Sec. B.; footnote omitted.]

Thus the Master found the equities to lie with MASSEY and against FANNING. The standard for review of an equitable question is stated as follows:

In an action in equity, the appellate court may resolve questions of fact in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 324 S.C. 570, 577, 479 S.E.2d 510, 513 (Ct. App.1996) (citing *Townes*, 266 S.C. at 86, 221 S.E.2d at 775) (holding that because the master-in-equity heard the action, which was equitable in nature, without appeal to the circuit court, the appellate court could find the facts on appeal in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence). However, this broad scope of review does not require this Court to disregard the findings at trial or to ignore the fact that the master was in a better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses. *Laughon v. O'Braitis*, 360 S.C. 520, 524-25, 602 S.E.2d 108, 111 (Ct.App.2004).

[*Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. ___, 683 S.E.2d 807 (Ct.App. 2009).]

Fesmire also holds that partition and accounting are matters in equity. *Id.*

ARGUMENT:

NO EVIDENCE EXISTS TO CHALLENGE THE ORDER IN EQUITY

To succeed on the basis of equity, the Appellant must demonstrate that, in light of all the evidence, a partition cannot be ordered in fairness. To that end, the Appellant has cited one basis: the Respondent's execution of the agreement prohibiting partition. No adequate response is made to the Court's finding that FANNING signed two agreements with third parties without MASSEY's consent and while withholding rents.

The Appellant has failed to show, or to preserve, sufficient evidence to allow this Court to disregard the Master's finding that equity lay on the side of the Respondent.

ARGUMENT:

ADDITIONAL BASIS TO AFFIRM

Rules 208(b)(2) and 220(c), S.C.A.C.R., allow the Respondent to contain in his Brief argument asking this Court to affirm for any ground appearing on the record.

It is uncontroverted that MASSEY and FANNING are, and were doing business as the operators of a mobile home park and rental area located on the real property described herein above, as stated in their 1979 Agreement. The Master finds their arrangement not to be a partnership, despite the express language of the said agreement:

However, it lacks details regarding the control and management of the business, namely the trailer park. Further, the parties' dealings with each other and the public do not align whatsoever with the terms of the Agreement. Each mobile home is owned individually by the parties. They have not and do not share the rents they collect, or the losses and expenses incurred to rent and maintain the homes. The liabilities they share in the payment of taxes on the real property, or utilities and insurance for the business building are not so different from other joint owners of property. They do not share in the control or management of their homes, and in the last few years have had little to no contact with each other. There was also no evidence they interacted with the public in a manner supporting a partnership. The parties simply divided the existing spaces to rent, which at first was uneven thirteen. It was later that Fanning added a mobile home

space to Parcel 2, making the total number of spaces between them an even fourteen. This conduct demonstrates they ignored the terms of the Agreement, setting up separate businesses, not a partnership.

[RECORD ON APPEAL, Order of 09/23/19, Sec. B.]

The Respondent argues, in the alternative, that the Master's finding against the existence of a partnership is too narrow. S.C. Code § 33-41-210 states the general rule:

A "partnership" is an association of two or more persons to carry on as co-owners a business for profit . . .

Even allowing the Master's findings as to the lack of joint actions recited above, the Order of 09/23/19 and its findings clearly acknowledge joint payment of taxes and the rights to joint rents. A partnership can be said to have existed, even if limited in scope.

S.C. Code § 33-41-930 is a part of the Uniform Partnership Act, originally adopted by this State in 1950; it sets out the grounds for dissolution of a partnership, providing as follows:

Dissolution is caused:

. . .

(2) In contravention of the agreement between the partners, when the circumstances do not permit a dissolution under any other provision of this section, by the express will of any partner at any time;

The terms of the 1979 Agreement forbidding dissolution or division of the subject real property are illegal insofar as they contradict S.C. Code § 33-41-930; as such, they cannot be enforced, under either common or Statutory law. Thus, Option a) above (the agreement against partition is not enforceable) does not apply.

In addition, S.C. Code § 33-41-540 provides, in relevant part:

(1) Every partner must account to the partnership for any benefit and hold as trustee for it any profits derived by him without the consent of the other partners from any transaction connected with the formation, conduct or liquidation of the partnership or from any use by him of its property.

S.C. Code § 33-41-55 provides, in relevant part:

Any partner shall have the right to a formal account as to partnership affairs:

...

(3) As provided by Section 33-41-540; or

(4) Whenever other circumstances render it just and reasonable.

The Respondent has plead for an accounting. The parties have long shared costs and expenses of the subject real property, as acknowledged by the Master's Order. It is manifestly equitable that an accounting accompany and be a part of the dissolution of any partnership between the parties.

Even if a partnership exists between the parties, the relief ordered by the Master is justified.

ARGUMENT:

APPELLANT'S BREACH WAS FUNDAMENTAL

The Appellant argues that his breach of the parties' agreement was not fundamental or substantial enough to defeat its enforcement. This argument was not plead below. As a legal conclusion, and to the extent this defense was raised, it is unsupported by the facts. As a matter in equity, the Respondent references his arguments above as to the lack of evidence to support the argument.

ARGUMENT:
WAIVER OF BREACH

The Appellant argues that any breach of the parties' agreement was waived by MASSEY. This argument was not plead below. As a legal conclusion, and to the extent this defense was raised, it is unsupported by the facts. As a matter in equity, the Respondent references his arguments above as to the lack of evidence to support the argument.

ARGUMENT:
RECEIPT OF RENT